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CITY OF LAKEWOOD 
HUMAN SERVICES LAWTHER CENTER 

16016-16024 MADISON AVENUE 
 

Request for Proposals – Property Sale and Reuse 
Questions and Answers 

 
September 7, 2022 

 
 

EVALUATION CRITERIA CORRECTION.  The scoring for the Project Vision (30%) and 
Project Team (30%) evaluation criteria is not correct in the RFP.  The correct weights of each 
category are Project Vision (35%) and Project Team (25%).  An updated RFP will be posted on the 
webpage found at https://www.lakewoodoh.gov/humanservicesrfp/.  Note that the scoring is correct 
in the Youth Division RFP. 

 
1. The RFP notes “the building has been identified as a potential contributing structure to a 

proposed National Register of Historic Places, Madison Avenue.” What is the status of 
submitting the nomination to the State Historic Preservation Office and the National Park 
Service?  

 
ANSWER: The City applied for grant funding to support this effort and were unfortunately not 
successful.  The City is currently reassessing opportunities to continue the nomination process.  
At this time, it has not been determined when this nomination effort will be continued.   

 
2. Please provide a copy of the nomination or historic survey documentation that provides more 

information on the property and proposed district.  
 

ANSWER: As noted previously, a nomination form or historic survey has not yet been 
completed.  The City did complete a Preliminary Questionnaire Historic District Form.  A copy 
of this form has been added to the Links section on the RFP webpage found at 
https://www.lakewoodoh.gov/humanservicesrfp/.  
 

3. A proposed capital stack may include the use of State and Federal Historic Preservation Tax 
Credits. Can it be assumed that a State Historic Preservation Tax Credit application be submitted 
in 2023?  
 
ANSWER: Yes. 
 

4. Have any environmental assessments been performed on the property (ex. Phase I ESA, Phase II 
ESA, etc.)? If so, can a copy of the reports be released to help with the preparation of a Scope of 
Work?  
 
ANSWER: The City has not conducted any environmental assessments on the property. It is 
expected the selected respondent will conduct any and all assessments and inspections deemed 
necessary as part of a due diligence period. 
 

5. Has the city engaged any consultants to provide any form of physical needs assessment for the 
property?  

 

https://www.lakewoodoh.gov/humanservicesrfp/
https://www.lakewoodoh.gov/humanservicesrfp/


2 
 

ANSWER: The City has conducted a roof assessment.  It is expected the selected respondent will 
conduct any and all assessments and inspections deemed necessary as part of a due diligence 
period. A copy of the roof assessment is attached to this document.  
 

6. Please provide utility bills for the property. 
 
ANSWER:  The City is working to pull the most recent utility bills for this property.  It will be 
attached to this document when available. 
 

7. Is there an equipment list and maintenance information for the existing ground-floor kitchen 
space? 
 
ANSWER:  A copy of the most recent kitchen equipment inventory list is attached to this 
document.  This may not reflect the current layout or inventory of equipment remaining on-site. 
As mentioned at the pre-submission meeting held on-site, the ice maker will be removed from the 
property prior to sale.  
 

8. Clarify evaluation criteria percentages. 
 

ANSWER:  See Evaluation Criteria Correction at the beginning of this document. 
 

9. Project Finances represent 25% of the evaluation criteria. Noted sub-criteria pose the question of 
whether the proposed project has long-term viability of financial strength. How is the city 
defining this? Is there a debt service coverage ratio or other specific minimum metrics that the 
city would like to see in the proposal pro forma?  

 
ANSWER: There is not a single factor the City is considering in making this determination as 
there are multiple data points (debt coverage ratio, cap rate, etc.) and associated industry 
standards to guide the City in understanding the financial risk and strength of a project. These 
will vary depending on the specifics of the project proposal. 
 

10. The Purchase Offer has a weighted percentage of 10% and respondents are asked to provide an 
offer to purchase the site, including the purchase price offered and any contingencies. Is there a 
minimum purchase price that the City will accept for this property? 

 
ANSWER: The City has completed a broker’s opinion of value using a comparable sales 
approach.  This resulted in a valuation range of $750,000-$850,000 assuming an owner occupier 
on the first floor and cashflow in the upstairs apartments.  The City has not established a 
minimum asking price for the property; however, the City will be using this opinion as a guide in 
reviewing offers. 

 
11. How will the purchase price included in the proposal be scored? Are there scoring tiers that can 

be provided in advance of the application deadline in order for applicants to tailor their proposed 
purchases prices and pro formas to calculate potential proposal scores? If no, is an applicant’s 
score for this criterion relative to other applicants’ proposed purchase prices, which will be 
unknown to other applicants until all proposals are submitted and published publicly.  
 
ANSWER: The purchase price offered will be weighted at 10% of the overall score. As noted 
previously, the City has determined that the valuation range is $750,000-$850,000 assuming an 
owner occupier on the first floor and cashflow in the upstairs apartments. A score will be 
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determined relative to other offers received and in consideration of the valuation range that has 
been determined. 

 
12. Will the BOV be provided? 

 
ANSWER: The valuation established by the broker’s opinion of value has been previously 
provided.  However, there is confidential information in the opinion that prevents the document 
from being shared publicly.  We will work with the preparer of the opinion to ensure it is made 
available to the selected respondent.  

 
13. Gross square footage of the structure is 12,300 GSF. There is an existing kitchen space on the 

ground floor that is approximately 1,200 GSF. Assuming that the kitchen space is devoted to a 
retail kitchen use and the remaining 11,100 GSF is devoted to an office use, this proposed project 
would require the following number of parking spaces: 
 

o 23 (22.2 rounded up) off street spaces for office use; 
o 2 (1.2 rounded up) off-street spaces for kitchen space; 
o 25 total. 

 
Would the city support a parking variance for project proposals that meet the community vision 
and goals of the RFP, but do not meet the minimum off-street parking requirements?  

 
ANSWER: The Lakewood Codified Ordinances provide multiple paths to achieve compliance 
with parking regulations.  Any such evaluation will be completed upon the review of a successful 
proposal and the ultimate decision regarding any variance request (should one be needed) will be 
at the discretion of the respective Board or Commission subject to the review criteria for the 
requested variance. 
 

14. Can [Respondents] apply for the job retention program as well as storefront? 
 
ANSWER: Respondents need to identify any and all economic incentive programs they intend to 
apply.  Decisions regarding eligibility will be made based upon review of all the information 
necessary to make such a decision.  Respondents can propose to apply for multiple economic 
incentive programs. 
 

15. Can the City provide elevator and roof maintenance reports for the building at minimum 
providing age and recent maintenance? 
 
ANSWER: As noted previously a roof assessment report has been attached to this document.  
Also find attached a maintenance contract for the elevator.  Note there are no maintenance 
records beyond this contract.  
 

16. Please provide an HVAC equipment inventory. 
 

ANSWER:  Please find the most recent HVAC equipment inventory list attached to this 
document.  This may not reflect the current layout or inventory of equipment remaining on-site. 
 

17. Has an extension for the RFP process been considered due to the quick turnaround time? Is the 
City willing to extend the application deadline? Following the date the City anticipates publishing 
responses to questions, there is only one business week available to finalize and submit our 
proposal.  
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ANSWER: Yes. The application deadline is extending until 3:00pm on Thursday, October 27, 
2022. This will allow applicants additional time to craft their responses.  
 

18. Are we allowed to use anyone from the City of Lakewood as a reference or does that fall into a 
"conflict of interest" type territory. 
 
ANSWER: Respondents are highly encouraged to identify references that are not affiliated with 
the City of Lakewood. 
 

19. Is the city open to any type of use?  
 
ANSWER: The City has not placed any restrictions on the proposed reuse of the buildings 
however has established preferences by way of the evaluation criteria.  Uses that do meet the 
stated goals and objectives of the offering will be scored lower and less likely to succeed. 

 
20. Will the city entertain demolition and rebuild projects?  

 
ANSWER: Yes. As noted in the RFP, “While the City will consider proposals for demolition and 
redevelopment of the property, preference will be for proposals that preserve and revitalize the 
existing structure.” 
















































